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Local Men in World War 1 
4

th
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st
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Introduction  
 
Our aim is to identify as many as possible of the local men and women who served in the 
British forces in World War 1 (ñWW1ò) and to tell what happened to them, where we can. By 
local we mean people from the village of Renton and the parishes of Bonhill, Kilmaronock 
and Luss The best estimate that we can make of the number of local people who served is 
about 3,500 and while we know that weôll not manage to identify everyone, weôll do our best 
to get as close to that number as we can.  
 
The main sources of information about them that we have are the newspapers of the day, in 
particular the Lennox Herald and to begin with, the Glasgow Herald. Other newspapers such 
as the Evening Times, The Bulletin and the Sunday Post have also provided useful 
information. Unfortunately the major part of the WW1 Army Records for Other Ranks was 
destroyed during the London Blitz in World War 2, and since the vast majority of the local 
people who were ñwith the coloursò were most definitely ñOther Ranksò as opposed to 
officers, there is only limited help from official archives. 
 
However, one other untapped source is the public at large which in practice means you, the 
readers of this article. Without intending to do so weôve already identified 5 of the men listed 
in the 1914 Roll of Honour as grandfathers / granduncles of people still living in the Vale. A 
great many of the others have names which are still common in the area and their 
descendants may have some information about them. No matter how trivial or unimportant 
stories about grandfathers and great uncles may seem, it all helps to build up a picture of the 
people we are writing about, while copies of letters or photographs are of great interest to 
everyone. A little effort to-day in putting such material together is nothing compared to what 
our forebearers had to endure during WW1.  
 
In telling what happened to the local soldiers, sailors and nurses we have done our best to 
describe the army they joined, where the units in which they served were at any particular 
time, the battles in which they fought and the horrendous conditions in which they served. It 
is only with a small proportion of the soldiers ï those who became casualties, who sent 
letters home or who were interviewed by James Russell of the Lennox Herald  while they 
were at home on leave ï that we can say specifically what a person was doing at a particular 
time. For most of the others we can only tell what the menôs units did, and part of the article 
is taken up with the stories of the battalions in 1914 in which the men served.  
 
We have put together very short biographies of those who were killed, wounded or taken 
prisoner and we have also provided a voice, in a section called ñSoldiers Speakingò, to the 
men themselves in their letters home and their interviews with James Russell. These 
provided a vivid, accurate and honest picture about what was happening at the front at a 
time when the War Department was totally controlling reporting from the front by the simple 
expedient of not allowing any reporters to go to the fighting areas. These reports in the 
Lennox Herald went unnoticed by the government censors but told the people of the Vale 
what was really happening in France and Belgium.  
 
In spite of the efforts of revisionist historians in the past few decades to rehabilitate the 
conduct of the war by the British General Staff, Alan Clarkeôs ñLions Led By Donkeysò 
remains the best description of the opening period of WW1. Most of the top-ranking military 
leaders were very conservative in their thinking with only a tenuous grasp of the realities of 
modern warfare, who stubbornly refused to learn from their many mistakes and kept 
repeating them. Not that the politicians were much better to begin with. The numbers killed 



2 
 

on an industrial scale speak for themselves, what is not so obvious 100 years later is the 
enormous waste in peopleôs lives ï wounded, maimed, captured, brutalised by the 
experience of trench warfare  - and the shadow it cast over the lives not just of the 
servicemen but also their wives and children. Words cannot adequately describe the 
conditions which these men had to and did endure. Their courage and fortitude on a day-to-
day basis beggars belief a hundred years on. The least we can do is say who they were and 
where they fought - and salute them for it. 
 
 
 

1. The British Expeditionary Force 1914 
 

 
 
The British Army of August 1914 was unarguably a volunteer army consisting of men who 
had volunteered for a fixed term of service. No one at this stage had been conscripted into 
the British Army ï that didnôt happen until 1916. It was the sole volunteer-only army of the 
major combatants in August 1914, and it was, also unarguably, by a considerable way the 
smallest.  
 
It was not an Army which any government had planned or wished to commit to a land war in 
Europe. Virtually every senior soldier and politician shared this view, in public at least, and 
that was reflected in their planning for a future conflict. The British thinking from the Cabinet 
downwards was that France would do the land fighting while the British Navy would control 
the seas, with Germany clearly the most likely enemy long before 1914. Unsurprisingly, the 
fairness of that arrangement escaped the French and it seems that some secret promises 
were made to the French in the years before 1914 about sending a substantial body of 
troops to France in the event of war with Germany. Only a handful of people in Britain knew 
of that promise, but the French politicians and soldiers who were in on the secret set great 
store by it.  
 
However, no preparations were made to deliver on these promises and everything about 
Britainôs military planning reflected the policy of minimal involvement in continental Europe: 
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the Army was short of all the equipment needed to wage a 20th century war from uniforms to 
shells to machine guns to artillery to field training for the troops. An example of the 
outmoded thinking at the highest military levels at the outbreak of war was the emphasis still 
placed on the cavalryôs role in the war, which reflected an ignorance at the General Staff 
level of the role of machine guns in the coming war 
 
The Army was organised on a regimental basis with each regiment being based in a local 
area ï in England, typically a county or city, while in Scotland, where most counties had 
smaller populations than their English counterparts, regiments usually came from a grouping 
of neighbouring counties. For example, the Argyll & Sutherland Highlanders, which was the 
local regiment for the Vale, had its head-quarters at Stirling Castle and recruited mainly from 
the counties of Stirling, Argyllshire, Renfrewshire and Dumbartonshire.  
 
Since the 1870ôs each regiment was organised into two full-time battalions of regular 
soldiers, one of which at any one time was serving overseas in a British colony and was 
known as the ñoverseas battalionò. Most of the overseas battalions were serving in India, 
which at that time consisted of the whole Indian sub-continent. The other regular battalion 
was based in Great Britain, which still included the whole of Ireland and this was known as 
the ñhome battalionò. Overseas service could last for anything up to five years or more, 
although two to three years was more typical. Every two ï five years the battalions would 
swap over and the overseas battalions would come home to be replaced in the colonies by 
the home battalion. These two battalions of regular soldiers were numbered 1 and 2 followed 
by the regimentôs name and each battalion had a theoretical establishment of about 800 ï 
1,000 men.  
 
Each regiment also had at least one battalion of members of the Territorial Army of which 
more below. 
 
Regulars 
 
In 1914 there were approximately 250,000 men serving on a full-time basis and they were 
known as the Regulars. Men serving in the Regular Army signed on for a fixed term of up to 
a maximum of 12 years. They could if they wished sign on again at the end of the fixed term, 
but if they chose to leave the Regular Army at that point, they were required to serve as 
Reservists for a number of years. The role of the Reservists is described later. 
 
Because about half of the Army was serving overseas at the outbreak of war in August 1914, 
only about half of its battalions were available in Britain to be sent to France or Belgium. The 
actual breakdown was as follows:  
 
 

¶ The British Army consisted of 68 line infantry regiments, 4 Guards regiments and 31 
cavalry regiments, artillery and other support units such as Engineers and the Army 
Service Corp.  

¶ 74 of the 144 infantry battalions and 12 of the 31 cavalry regiments were stationed 
abroad, mainly in India, or some other far-away colony, although some battalions 
were in Malta and Gibraltar and were quickly sent to France as losses mounted in the 
first couple of months of the war.  

¶ Naturally enough steps were taken immediately to bring as many as possible of 
these overseas battalions back to Britain or France, although it was December 1914 
or January 1915 before some of them made it to the battle zone. Battalions coming 
back from abroad were, to begin with, replaced overseas by some Territorial 
battalions, although not on a one-for-one basis 
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As if this wasnôt bad enough, the theoretical establishment of each of these regular 
battalions was from 800 to 1,000 men, but in reality the number actually present in many of 
the home battalions was typically little more than 50-60% of that number. The other 40-50% 
was to be made up on general mobilization by reservists who were recalled to the colours. 
So in practice at 11 pm on the night of 4th August 1914, when Britain declared war on 
Germany, the British Army actually had in its barracks and camps in Britain approximately 
75,000 men to face, with the French Army of 1,650,000 men, a German Army already in the 
field of 1,850,000 men.  
 

 
British Soldiers in the town square at Mons before the Battle of Mons August 1914 

 
That a British Army, now renamed the British Expeditionary Force (ñBEFò) of 120,000 men 
crossed to France from 14th August 1914 onwards and was in position to face the Germans 
at Mons in Belgium by 23rd August 1914, was a minor miracle of organisation and also a 
strong indication of the sense of duty of the Army Reservists who returned to their regimental 
depots in droves on mobilization. (The BEF totaled 150,000 men but 2 Divisions were kept in 
England until early September). Reservists from battalions serving abroad almost always 
joined up with the home service battalion of the regiment, which meant that many battalions 
had more than their establishment numbers, but every man was needed in the first months 
of the war.  
 
It was little wonder that the German Kaiser was said to have referred to the BEF as a 
ñcontemptible little armyò, because it must have seemed to be far too small to make any 
significant difference as far as the Germans were concerned. They had learned differently by 
the end of 1914. Itôs very doubtful that the Kaiser ever did call the BEF ñthe contemptible little 
armyò and much more likely that the phrase was coined by British propagandists to 
strengthen army morale and resolve in a ñweôll show themò way. If it was a British invention, 
it was the first of the British military propagandistsô many successful inventions during the 
war, in which they ran rings round their German counterparts. 
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Kaiser Wilhelm II 
 
In any event, when the phrase reached public circulation it was quickly seized upon and the 
soldiers who served in the BEF in France and Flanders in 1914 were called the ñOld 
Contemptiblesò, a name of which they were extremely proud and which has survived ever 
since. 
 
Weôve so far identified 76 local men serving as Regulars in 1914, of whom 3 were killed 
before the end of 1914. 
 
Reservists 

 
While there were a number of different types of Army Reserve in 1914 weôll only concern 
ourselves with those who rejoined the colours in August 1914 to plug the gaps in the Regular 
Battalions. These were men who had served previously in a battalion of the regiment but 
whose term of service had expired some time previously; they were legally obliged to be 
available for recall in the event of a general mobilization for 5 years after they had left the 
Army. These ex-soldiers had returned to civvy-street, many got married, and in this locality 
usually found jobs in the shipyards and engineering works on Clydeside or in Singerôs 
factory at Clydebank, and settled down to family life. 
 



6 
 

 
 

Beardmoreôs Fitting Out Basin, Dalmuir 
 
As you will see from the Roll of Honour, we have already identified 67 Reservists from this 
area who were recalled to the colours on 4th August 1914; 10 of them were killed and 24 
wounded between August and 31st December 1914.  
 
Territorials  
 
The third element in the British Army on the outbreak of war was the Territorial Army. The 
Territorial Army was a voluntary, part-time form of soldiering which was created in 1908 to 
replace the long-established Volunteer movement. At the outbreak of the war each regiment 
had a number of Territorial battalions whose men were part-time soldiers and all were 
volunteers. Before the outbreak of war, the role of the Territorial Army was to serve in UK as 
a replacement for the Regular Army. Territorial soldiers could not be forced to serve abroad. 
However, as losses mounted in the autumn of 1914 that restriction was relaxed and the vast 
majority of Territorials agreed to serve abroad. 
 
Typically a Territorial soldier attended drill one night a week in the local drill-hall and an 
annual 2 week summer camp. Most of the Territorial battalions were infantry; the Territorial 
cavalry units were called Yeomanry, but there were none of them locally and few elsewhere 
in Scotland.  
 
There was considerable local affinity to these Territorial battalions and in this area the local 
Territorial unit was the 9th Battalion of the Argyll & Sutherland Highlanders (ñthe 
Dumbartonshire Regimentò). The Volunteers movement had been very strong in the Vale of 
Leven with the members of the Volunteer companies mostly working in the local textile 
factories, which were strong supporters of the Volunteers. The Volunteer tradition carried 
over into the Territorial Army in the valley.  
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There were two local companies of the 9th Battalion: 
 

E Company (Jamestown and Bonhill) and 
 

 
 

F Company (Renton and Alexandria) 

 
There were about 120 men in each company, most of whom worked in either the United 
Turkey Red Ltd or the Calico Printer Association textile finishing factories. Many of its 
officers were managers in the factories, others were local landowners. The 9th ASH had 
about 800 men in its ranks from all over the old county of Dumbartonshire, almost all of 
whom mustered in Dumbarton on mobilization in August 1914, before moving off to spend 
about six months in a training camp in Bedford from where they crossed over to serve in the 
trenches on the western front. What happened to them is described in the 1915 part of this 
story, sufficient to say that these 800 men were serving in the British Army in 1914 and many 
of the 250 or so local Territorials who served at that time are listed in the Roll of Honour 
while many others will join the Roll as we research the events of 1915. 
 
Lord Kitchener who was appointed as Minister for War on 5th August 1914, had a low 
opinion of the Territorial Army, seeing it, or more particularly its officers, as more of a social 
set than soldiers capable of leading men in a modern war. Kitchener was an intelligent man 
who was right more often than he was wrong, which is more than can be said about almost 
every other top army officer, and he might have been correct about some of the Territorial 
officers. However, he wasnôt correct about the fighting effectiveness of the Territorial Force 
as a whole, as events were to show when they were desperately needed to plug the gaps 
left in the Regular Army in France and Flanders after only four months of fighting. In spite of 
the inept training they had received in camps like Bedford ï all route marches and no trench 
warfare preparation ï when the Territorials were sent to the Western Front and fed into the 
front line from December 1914 onwards, they performed well and were soon virtually 
indistinguishable from the Old Contemptibles in both performance and levels of casualties. 
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By the end of 1914 about 30 Territorial Battalions were in France and Belgium - well before 
Kitchenerôs New Army battalions were available. Although a number of these TA Battalions 
were Scottish, as far as we know no local men were serving in them. 
 

Volunteers 
 

Having rejected the Territorial Army as the 
base on which to build an army to 
compete with the Germans, Kitchener 
instead decided to create a series of new 
armies ï still based on the old regimental 
names and structure ï each 100,000 men 
strong.  
 
These were called The New Armies and 
that soon became the New Model Armies 
in popular parlance, making an obvious 
link with the disciplined, hard-fighting force 
which Oliver Cromwell created to fight and 
win the English Civil War. It was to fill the 
ranks of these New Armies that Kitchener 
made his famous call for Volunteers ï 
ñYour Country Needs Youò. 
 
 
At the outset the response was 
overwhelming as long queues formed 
outside recruiting offices and for the rest 
of 1914 the Army struggled to cope with 
its new volunteers.  
 
The men of the Vale were no different 
from anywhere else and as the Roll of 
Honour shows at least 470 men 

volunteered from the Vale in the first 4 months of the war. The actual figure is probably 
higher since it only includes the Muster Rolls for the County of Dumbarton and if someone 
enlisted in, say, Glasgow or Stirling they wouldnôt be included in these figures.   
 
People could volunteer in the Drill Halls in Bonhill, Alexandria and Renton but in Jamestown 
the local Conservative and Unionist Club at Jamestown Railway station was used. This 
could have been because the Jamestown Drill Hall was needed as the Armyôs base for the 
Auchencarroch Shooting Range, which became a major training resource in musketry for 
volunteers from the camps at Stirling.  
 
These volunteers were from a number of Scottish regiments and came by train to 
Jamestown Station from Stirling. They marched from Jamestown to their billets in halls 
throughout the Vale, including Bonhill Parish Church Hall. Each contingentôs stay in the Vale 
was short and when they went back to Stirling they were replaced by another group.  
 



9 
 

 
Bonhill Parish Church Hall 

 
 

2. The Regiments in which local served men in 1914 
 
Listed below are the units of the armed forces in which local men served in 1914. As you can 
see they are mostly army units. The names of the regiments and the abbreviated form in 
which they appear in the rest of this article are listed below. Since the vast majority of local 
men served in Scottish Regiments in 1914, the battalion numbers are also given. Apart from 
the 9th Battalion of the Argyll & Sutherland Highlanders, which was the local Territorial 
Battalion, all of the other Scottish Infantry Battalions are from the regular army, although two 
of the cavalry units were Yeomanry i.e. Territorials.  
 
Itôs notable that men from this area served in as many Irish regiments as English ones in 
1914.  
 
Scottish Regiments 
 
Argyll & Sutherland Highlanders     1 ASH and 2ASH and 9ASH 
Black Watch (also known as the Royal Highlanders)  1 BW and 2BW 
Queens Own Cameron Highlanders     1 CH and 2 CH 
Gordon Highlanders      1 GH and 2 GH 
Highland Light Infantry     1 HLI and 2 HLI 
Kings Own Scottish Borderers    1 KOSB and 2 KOSB 
*Lovat Scouts       Lovat Scouts 
Royal Scots       1 RS and 2RS 
Royal Scots Fusiliers       1 RSF and 2 RSF 
Scots Guards       1 SG and 2 SG 
Scottish Rifles (also known as The Cameronians)  1 SR and 2SR 
Dragoons / Royal Scots Greys    2 D/RSG and 5D / RSG 
**Scottish Horse      Scot Horse 
Seaforth Highlanders      1SH and 2SH 
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*The Lovat Scouts were a Scottish Yeomanry, i.e. mounted, Territorial unit. One battalion 
was dismounted and fought as part of the Cameron Highlanders in Macedonia. 
**The Scottish Horse was also a Yeomanry unit. It went into more or less immediate active 
service on mounted patrols on the east coast of England as an anti-invasion measure. 
 
Irish Regiments 
 
Connaught Rifles      CR 
Irish Guards       IG 
Royal Dublin Fusiliers      RDF 
Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers     RIF  
Royal Irish Fusiliers      RIrF 
Royal Irish Rifles      RIR 
 
English Regiments 

 
***Birkenhead Bantams     Birk Ban 
Border Regiment      BR 
Life Guards       Life Gds 
Loyal North Lancashire Infantry    LNLI 
Manchester Regiment      MR 
Queens (Royal West Surrey) Regiment   RWS 
 
***The Birkenhead Bantams was the first of the army units created to recruit men under the 
Armyôs minimum height requirement of 5 ft 2 inches ï it took men between 4ft 10 and 5ft 3 
inches in height. It was established in Birkenhead after public pressure in November 1914 
and 3,000 soon joined. The Bantams were formed into two battalions of the Cheshire 
Regiment ï the 15th and 16t - and thereafter many other areas and regiments formed bantam 
battalions.  
 
Army-wide Units  

 
Army Service Corps       ASC 
Royal Army Medical Corps     RAMC 
Royal Artillery        RA 
Royal Engineers      RE 
Royal Field Artillery      RFA 
Royal Garrison Artillery     RGA 
 
Royal Navy Units 
 
Royal Marines       RM 
Royal Marine Light Infantry     RMLI 
Royal Navy       RN 
Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve    RNVR 
 
Overseas Units 
 

At this stage of the war, all local expatriates who had joined up abroad came from either 
Australia or Canada and little effort was made by the British press to distinguish between the 
different regiments and battalions in the Australian and Canadian Armies. This is quite 
understandable because no one locally had any contact with these units, and even national 
newspapers knew little about them at this stage in the war.  
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Therefore the Australian Army is variously described as the Australian Imperial Forces (AIF), 
or the Australian Expeditionary Force (AEF) while the single battalion reference is to the 3rd 
Battalion of the Australian Infantry (3 Aus Inf). 
 
The Canadian Army is treated similarly. It started off as the Canadian Expeditionary Force 
(CEF), but was also referred to as the Canadian Contingent (1 Can Con), the Canadian 
Infantry (Can Inf) and the Canadian Scots (Can Scots). The Canadians didnôt refer to 
themselves in these terms and had a locally-based named regimental structure, similar to 
the British Army, which the Australians did not have. Many of the Canadian Regiments had 
Scottish names and over time these helped to make reporters more apt to identify individual 
Canadian battalions. 
 
 

3. The Roll of Honour 1914 
 
This is a list of the men (and so far it is only men, but women will appear in later years) who 
we have already identified as having served during the opening months of the war i.e. 4th 
August 1914 ï 31st December 1914. This list will be added to as our research continues.  
 
The list contains about 700 names and we can usually say from which village or town they 
came, in which regiment they served and whether they were Regulars, Reservists, 
Territorials or Volunteers. If they were killed or wounded we usually have some personal 
details about them. For some we have very few details, not even a first name or a regiment. 
These men are almost always the brother of someone for whom we have full details and 
they have been mentioned in a newspaper report about their brother but no details are given 
about them.  
 
Just a note, once again, about the terminology. ñRoll of Honourò in this article has the same 
meaning as it had in 1914 ï it is a list of those who served and not solely a list of those who 
were killed. It was only after WW1 that the term ñRoll of Honourò was applied to those who 
were killed in the war.  
 
The Roll of Honour is a separate file, which can be found on this link >.  

 
 

The Casualties of 1914 

 
Almost all volunteers in 1914 were still in training camps in the UK until early 1915 so the 
1914 casualties were almost entirely men in regular battalions, and although there were also 
some from Territorial Battalions none of these came from this area, as far as we know.  
 
Since we want to tell as much as we can about what happened to the local servicemen and 
in particular those who were killed and wounded, in Section 7 we will give a brief outline of 
the course of the war on a year by year basis and also tell as much as we can about the 
activities of the individual battalions in which men served. Therefore, rather than repeat in 
every individual short biography each soldierôs experience in the fighting, we will outline what 
his battalion did, where it was and when it was there. To get more information about 
someoneôs period of service therefore you can refer firstly to the overall course of the war 
and then where an individualôs battalion was and what it was doing. This information can be 
found in Section 7 ï ñWhere the Men Fought in 1914ò and the entries for each battalion. 
 
Itôs also worth saying that while we can usually find an accurate date for someoneôs death, 
getting the date for when someone is wounded or taken prisoner is usually more difficult. 
This is because the Commonwealth War Graves Commission (CWGC) or Scottish National 

ValeMWMA1914RoHWholeArea.pdf
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War Memorial (SNWM) websites give a ñdate diedò, which is in most cases accurate, 
although occasionally another source such as a soldier who was serving alongside him 
when he was killed will come up with a different date. Even when that happens the 
discrepancy is only a day or so. Having the date when someone died helps us to pin down 
where a soldier was and what his unit was doing when he was killed.  
 
At the moment, the CWGC doesnôt provide a date for someone being wounded and we have 
therefore relied on newspaper reports for dating the wounded / POWS. These reports 
usually appeared up to a month after the event and while some of them do give details of 
what happened, many donôt and weôre left to try to work it out ourselves. 
 

The Men Who Died on Active Service in 1914 
 
All of the men from this area who died on active service between 4th August and 31st 
December 1914 are listed below. Not all of the men were killed in action or died from their 
wounds. The policy of the military authorities and adopted by the Commonwealth War 
Graves Commission, was that if anyone died while in the Army, Royal Navy or Royal Air 
Force, for whatever reason, then they were termed as having ñdied on active serviceò. We 
have followed that policy and while the vast majority of men who died in WW1, died as a 
result of fighting at the front or at sea, there was a steady number who died of what might be 
called common causes or avoidable diseases such as typhoid, dysentery or pneumonia, and 
that remained true throughout the war, being worse is some theatres of war than others.  
 
These short biographies are in chronological order of the deaths of the men who died in 
1914. 
 

 
Private James McFadyen, 
(Serial Number 3/3933) C 
Company 2nd Battalion Argyll 
and Sutherland Highlanders 
(A&SH), Killed in Action 21th 
October 1914, aged 35. James 
McFadyen, has, by one day, 
the unwanted distinction of 
being the first man from this 
area to be killed in World War 
1. He lived with his mother Mrs 
Bridget McFadyen at 37 Back 
Street Renton (pictured), so 
Back Street, which in the words 
of the Lennox Herald when it 
reported James McFadyenôs 

death was ña street which has given many men to their country during this present crisisò 
shares that distinction. He had been born in Dumbarton and had been a regular soldier for 
15 years, fighting in the South African War. When he left the Army he had got a job at 
McMillanôs Yard in Dumbarton ï a job in a local ship-yard was the most likely employment 
for a regular soldier when leaving the pre-WW1 Army.  
 
He was working there when he was called up as a Reservist on the mobilisation which 
immediately preceded the outbreak of war on 4th August 1914, and like all A&SH reservists 
he would have gone to Stirling and from there travelled up to Fort George near Inverness, to 
join 2 A&SH, arriving by 5th August at the latest. 
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The battalion took a day to travel down to Southampton, where it embarked for France 
arriving in Boulogne on 11th August; 2 A&SH was the first of the BEF battalions to land in 
France. From the northern French ports the BEF moved up to Mons in Belgium, and 2 A&SH 
was detailed as Lines of Communications Defence Troops guarding the road and rail routes 
between the channel ports and the front line, so James McFadyen missed the early battles. 
However, as the BEF was pushed back and the Race to the Sea began, the A&SH was sent 
into front-line action. In early October it was fighting in the Battle of Armentieres against a 
much greater force of Germans who attacked before the British could get in their planned 
attack. This short Battle resulted in considerable losses to the British but it was another 
action which held up the Germans and meant that the British and their allies won the Race to 
the Sea. 
 
James McFadyen was one of the casualties. One of his colleagues was wounded and it was 
he, when he was sent home on recuperation leave, who broke the news to James 
McFadyenôs mother that her son had almost certainly been Killed in Action on, he thought, 
20th October 1914. The wounded man was able to tell Mrs McFadyen that on the day in 
question McFadyenôs section was heavily outnumbered and almost completely wiped out. 
This confirmed his motherôs worst fears, because he was a regular correspondent to his 
mother and she had received no word from him since before the date on which he is 
supposed to have been killed. She was first of all officially told that he was missing, and it 
was not until almost 18 months later in March 1916 that she received word from the War 
Office that he had been killed on 21st October 1914. That is also the date that is recorded on 
the SNWM and the CWGC (which records him as ñMcFaydenò rather than McFadyen). 
Having no known grave he is commemorated on the Ploegstreert Memorial as well as the 
Renton War Memorial.  
 
 
Lance-Corporal Thomas Murphy, 2nd Battalion Kingôs Own Scottish Borderers (the 
KOSBs), Killed in Action 22nd October 1914. L/Cpl Murphy was the first person from 
Alexandria to be killed in WW1, but he has received no local recognition for his sacrifice and 
does not appear on any of the local war memorials. He stayed with his aunt at 13 North 
Street Alexandria and since he was 34 years old in 1914 and a Reservist it is virtually certain 
that he had previously served in the Regular Army. Like many other former soldiers in the 
area, when he left the Army he found work in the shipyards on the Clyde, in his case at 
Beardmoreôs Yard at Dalmuir. It was from that job that he was summoned back to the 
KOSBs in the days immediately before the outbreak of war.  
 
He would have landed at Le Havre about 14th August 1914 with his battalion and then 
moved up into Belgium taking up position very briefly at Mons on 23rd August. From there 
the BEF Army was pushed back almost 200 miles to the River Aisne north east of Paris by 
13th September, with the KOSBs fighting virtually every day, so within little over a month 
Patrick Murphy would have been a tired, experienced front-line soldier. After the Battle of the 
Aisne, the ñRace to the Seaò began and the BEF was sent off in a north-westerly direction 
again fighting virtually every day. The first of the major battles of that race was at La Bassee, 
west of Lille in northern France and it was on the first day of that battle, 22nd October, that 
Thomas Murphy was Killed in Action. His body was never found and he is commemorated 
on Le Touret Memorial. 
 
Which, as weôve said, is more than can be said for this areaôs war memorials. It seems 
ironic, not to say callous and incompetent that the very first person from the Parish of Bonhill 
to be killed in the war doesnôt even make it onto the Alexandria Cenotaph. However, there 
will be other war dead from this area who arenôt on any local memorial and the reason is 
usually that they had no relations still living locally when the local war memorial committees 
were drawing up the lists of the war dead after the war; there was in effect, no one to speak 
up for them. That seems the most likely case with Thomas Murphy. 
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Private Daniel Coll, (Serial Number 9055) 2nd Battalion Royal Scots Fusiliers, Killed in 
Action 23rd October 1914. Daniel Coll was born and raised in Renton where he lived with his 
parents Mr & Mrs Daniel Coll at 194 Main Street Renton. He had served 7 years as a 
Regular with the Royal Scots Fusiliers when he was Killed in Action on 23rd October 1914 
aged about 27 years (his parents were initially told in December 1914 that he had been killed 
on 25th October, but both the CWGC and SNWM agree that it was the 23rd).  
 

 
Main Street Renton 

 
The outbreak of war on 4th August found Daniel Coll and 2 RSF stationed in Gibraltar, so 
they were not part of the original BEF, but like almost every other regular Army battalion 
serving overseas they were brought back to the UK as quickly as possible, arriving back in 
southern England in September. From there they were sent to assist in the defence of the 
Belgian port of Antwerp, landing at Zeebrugge on 6th October 1914 but it was too late to 
save the port against overwhelming Germans odds. Instead, the battalion helped to cover 
the retreat of the Belgian Army to a defensive line at the very north of the Western Front, 
plugging the last gap in the race to the sea.  
 
As the Belgian Army was moving into position, the British forces which had been 
accompanying them were sent south to prepare a defensive position around the Belgian 
town of Ypres. Daniel Coll was amongst the first British troops to arrive in Ypres, digging the 
first trenches in what became for the rest of the war, just about the worst killing grounds on 
the western front. The Germans attacked Ypres almost as soon as the British got there and 
the First Battle of Ypres broke out on 20/21st October 1914 and lasted until 11th November 
1914. The 7th Division in which Daniel Coll was serving took enormous losses during the 
battle, and Daniel Coll was one of them, losing his life within 2 or 3 days of the beginning of 
the Battle. His body was never found and having no known grave he is commemorated on 
the Menin Gate Memorial in Ypres. He is the first man from this area to have been killed in 
the Ypres Salient but was followed by many more.  
 
Daniel Collôs death was not the only loss his family had to bear. He had two brothers also 
serving with the Army at the time ï L/Cpl Charles Coll, 1 A&SH and Private William Coll, 2 
A&SH; both of whom were wounded later in the war while William was killed in 1916. Daniel 
and William are commemorated on the Renton War Memorial. 
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Private Edward Connelly, (Serial Number 8709) 2nd Battalion Kings Own Scottish 
Borderers, Killed in Action 25th October 1914. Edward Connolly was born in Dalmuir but had 
lived with his parents at 100 Main Street Renton for the 11 years before the outbreak of war. 
He was 32 years old when he was killed and had served as Regular soldier, having enlisted 
at Dumbarton and fought in the Boer War. Because of this he was a Reservist and was 
recalled to the colours when Britain mobilised a few days before the outbreak of war. At the 
time he was working with Messrs Rowan & Co of Scotstoun, marine engineers.  
 
Having landed at Le Havre with his battalion on 14th August 1914, his war service would 
have been very similar to Lance-Corporal Murphy above, both having served in 2 KOSB. 
Edward Connelly outlived Thomas Murphy, but only by a few days. He was Killed in Action 
on 25th October 1914 at the Battle of La Bassee and having no known grave he too is 
commemorated on the Le Touret Memorial as well as the Renton War Memorial. 
 
 
Guardsman Joseph Molloy, (Serial Number 7078) 1st Battalion Scots Guards, Killed in 
Action 29th October 1914, aged 24. Joseph Molloy also appears on some records and 
reports as Malloy and Mulloy. He was the son of Mrs Margaret McCulloch or Malloy of 20 
Station Street Renton and the first mention we see of him is in the Glasgow Herald of 18th 
December 1914 when his mother reports that she has just received information that Joseph 
Malloy has been missing for about 10 weeks (it was actually 7 weeks at this stage). By the 
16th January 1915 the Lennox Herald tells us that his mother has received word from a 
Captain in his battalion that Joseph has been missing since 29th October 1914 and by this 
time Mrs McCulloch is appealing for anyone with any information about him to get in touch, 
as many wives and parents of missing soldiers had to do throughout the war.  
 
The 1st Scots Guards had been involved in the fighting from the Battle of Mons onwards, so 
Joseph Molloy would have seen much hard fighting by the time he was involved in the 1st 
Battle of Ypres which started on 21st October 1914. He survived just over a week of that fight 
before he was Killed in Action on 29th October. His body was never found and having no 
known grave he is commemorated on Menin Gate at Ypres. He is also commemorated on 
the Renton War Memorial. 
 
He was a Reservist and before being called to his unit on mobilisation he worked in the 
Alexandria Works of the UTR (the Craft). At the time of his death he had a brother William 
also serving at the front in the Dublin Fusiliers. 
 
Private William Tait (Serial Number 7643) 2nd Battalion Gordon Highlanders, Killed in 
Action 31st October 1914, aged about 30. On the Alexandria Cenotaph Private Tait is listed 
as having served in the Argylls; this is wrong. The contemporary newspaper accounts from 
James Russell, who had obviously spoken to his wife, as well as the CWGC records both 
show that Private Tait served in 2nd Battalion Gordon Highlanders. Private Tait was born and 
brought up in Jamestown where his mother, Mrs Margaret Clachers (she had remarried), still 
lived. Being the ex-trainer of Jamestown Thistle juvenile football team, William Tait was well 
known in the Vale.  
 
He had already served about 15 years in the Regular Army but had left it, although 
remaining a Reservist, and was working in the Lennox Foundry in Alexandria when he was 
recalled to the colours on outbreak of war. Unlike many Regulars and Reservists, William 
Tait was married and lived with his wife at 34 Lennox Street Alexandria when he went off to 
war. He would have gone first to Plymouth awaiting the arrival of 2 GH back from Cairo. The 
battalion returned on 1st October but within a few days William Tait was landing at 
Zeebrugge with the battalion to try to help the Belgians in the defence of Antwerp, like Daniel 
Coll of 2RSF mentioned above. They were too late to save Antwerp and like Daniel Coll and 
his battalion they covered the Belgian Armyôs retreat to the position they held for the rest of 
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the war at the very northern end of the Allies trenches on the Western Front. 2 Gordons then 
went south into the Ypres Salient just before the opening of the Battle of Ypres on 21st 
October 1914. William Tait took part in the first 10 days of the Battle but was Killed in Action 
on 31st October. It wasnôt until early December that his wife was notified that he had been 
killed, but considering that his body was never found, that was a speedy response from the 
War Office. Having no known grave Private William Tait is commemorated on the Menin 
Gate Memorial at Ypres.  
 
Sergeant John McIntyre, (SN 5965) 1st Battalion Queens Own Cameron Highlanders 
Killed in Action 2nd November 1914. John McIntyre had been born in Bonhill and had served 
for a number of years as a Regular. When he left the Army he joined Beardmoreôs at its 
Dalmuir Shipyard where he worked as a stager, but of course he remained an Army 
Reservist. He was married and lived with his wife at 52 Sandbank Bonhill. In civilian life he 
became well known in Vale sporting circles; his favourite sport was swimming and he was 
captain and treasurer of the Vale of Leven Swimming Club.  
 
On being called up on mobilisation on the outbreak of war John McIntyre joined his battalion 
in Edinburgh. It landed at Boulogne on 14th August and on 15th travelled by train via Amiens 
and Rouen to Wassigny near Le Cateau where they detrained. Part of the battalion acted as 
General Haigôs escort as the BEF moved up to Mons. By 5th September the 1 CH were 
switched to 1st Division to replace a battalion which had taken very heavy losses. The BEF 
was in full retreat to the Marne, fighting all way, and during the retreat he was promoted from 
Corporal to Sergeant. The Camerons were sent north into the Ypres Salient in time for the 
1st Battle of Ypres. For most of that time he was in the company of another Bonhill man 
Private William Forrest who was fighting only a few yards from the spot on which John 
McIntyre was Killed in Action 2nd November 1914. Forrest was himself wounded and when 
he came home on convalescent leave in January 1915 he spoke of John McIntyreôs death. 
He said of the fighting that McIntyre and he had been through ñIt was simply hell all the time. 
In 6 weeks the Camerons lost at least 50 officers and 1,700 menò. Few of his fellow Old 
Contemptibles would have disagreed with that description.  
 
His wife was notified of his death about 10th November 1914. Sergeant McIntyre has no 
known grave but is commemorated on the Menin Gate at Ypres as well as the Alexandria 
Cenotaph.   
 
 
Private James Struthers, (SN 9475) Private, ñDò Company 2nd Battalion Argyll & 
Sutherland Highlanders,. Killed in Action, aged 29, on 10th November 1914. His is a 
particularly poignant story. James Struthers was born in Alexandria and was the son of Mr 
and Mrs William Struthers 7 Thimble Street Renton. He had served as a Regular soldier and 
on leaving the Army as well as becoming a Reservist, he took up employment as a tenter in 
Dalmonach Works, Bonhill.  
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Dalmonach Works, Bonhill 

 
On the outbreak of war, as a Reservist he was mobilised and like Private James McFadyen 
above he would have travelled up to join the 2nd Battalion at Fort George Inverness on 5th or 
6th August. In all over 700 Argylls Reservists made that journey in these two days. The 
battalion travelled down by train to Southampton and after a day or so crossed over to 
Boulogne on 11/12th August. To begin with 2 A&SH acted as Lines of Communications 
Defence Troops but by October it was a front-line fighting unit in the 6th Division taking part 
in the desperate fighting towards the southern end of the Ypres sector.   
 
Captain Hyslopôs diary below has details of the fiasco of a night attack on night of 9th / 10th 
November in which D company played a leading part. 
 
It was there that James disappeared on 10th November and was officially reported missing to 
his parents back in Renton by the War Office in the middle of December 1914. And there the 
matter might have rested and his parents left forever wondering had it not been for a 
discovery made by some soldiers of the Somerset Light Infantry on Christmas Day 1914. 
They had been detailed to find and bury the bodies of British soldiers on the battlefield close 
to Ploegsteert. As is well known, Christmas Day 1914 was quiet enough on parts of the 
Western Front for fraternisation in no-manôs land between the troops from both sides in the 
Christmas Truce of 1914. 
 
Early in January 1915 Mr & Mrs Struthers received a letter from Corporal R Hanks, of 1st 
Somerset Light Infantry, which told Mr & Mrs Struthers that as they were burying the dead on 
Christmas Day they found a postcard addressed to Mr William Struthers 7 Thimble Street 
Renton on the body of one of the Highlanders they were about to inter on the battlefield. As 
the post card was addressed and ready for posting he thought it was their duty to forward 
the card to James Struthersô parents so that their minds could be set at rest regarding their 
son.  
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A letter from a Captain Purvie of 2 A&SH two weeks or so later confirmed all of this saying 
that it was now officially confirmed that James had died and added that Private Struthers had 
been killed while taking part in a gallant charge under the greatest of difficulties and he had 
died like a true British soldier.  
 
The cruelty of James Struthersô fate continued, however. Being buried on the battlefield 
where you fell was no guarantee of a final resting place. The Ypres Salient was one of the 
bloodiest places on the Western Front with major battles and minor skirmishes continuing for 
the next four years. The ground was churned up by shelling and mines, and quite simply 
James Struthersô grave was lost and his body was never re-found. Having no known final 
resting place he is commemorated on the Ploegsteert Memorial. 
 
Nor did the cruelty end there for his parents because his brother, William, who was also 
serving in the Argylls when James died was killed in May 1915 in the fighting which 
destroyed the 9 ASH, the Dumbartonshire Territorials.  The two brothers are commemorated 
on the Renton War memorial and the Alexandria Cenotaph, the only brothers to appear on 
both..  
 
 
Private Edward Hill, (Serial Number 4604) 1st Battalion Queenôs Own Cameron 
Highlanders, Killed in Action 11th November 1914, aged 34. Edward, or Ned, as he was 
usually known, had been born in Partick but lived most of his life in the Vale, latterly in Main 
Street Renton, with his parents, Mr & Mrs Edward Hill. He had served 8 years with the 
Regular Army, having enlisted in Bonhill, and when his service was finished he got a job in 
Beardmoreôs Yard at Dalmuir. He remained a Reservist and was called up on mobilisation at 
the outbreak of war. 
 
He would have travelled through to Edinburgh to join his battalion probably on 5th August 
1914, and about a week later travelled south to cross to France arriving in Le Havre on 14th 
August. From then on he would have been involved in all of the fighting from the first Battle 
at Mons, then the 200 mile retreat south to the Marne before changing direction to the north-
west and joining the Race to the Sea. The Camerons found themselves in the Ypres Salient 
in time for the start of the First Battle of Ypres on 21st October 1914.  
 
They took terrible casualties in that battle and weôve already seen that Sergeant John 
McIntyre was one; Ned Hill survived just over a week longer than John McIntyre, but he was 
Killed in Action fighting in the trenches on 11th November 1914. News of his death was sent 
home to Renton by two of his companions at the front.  
 
Having no known grave he is commemorated on the Menin Gate Memorial as well as on the 
Renton War Memorial. 
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Interior of Menin Gate Memorial Ypres 

 
Private Francis McGuire, (Serial Number 6716) 1st Queens Own Battalion Cameron 
Highlanders, Killed in Action 11th November 1914., the same day and in the same fighting 
as Private Ned Hill. Private McGuire was born in Glasgow but lived with his parents, Mr & 
Mrs P McGuire at 136 Back Street Renton. It was in Renton that he enlisted into the Regular 
Army in which he served for a number of years. On completing his Army service, Francis 
McGuire worked in Dennyôs Yard in Dumbarton, although he, of course, remained a 
Reservist. 
 
Like all other Reservists he was called up on the outbreak of war and like Private Ned Hill 
above, he made his way to Edinburgh to join his battalion ï 1CH. His fighting experience 
would have been that of all other 1CH soldiers described below and with his battalion he was 
sent into action in the trenches in the Ypres Salient, defending the Salient against a 
numerically superior German force. It was there that he was killed in Action on 11th 
November 1914. In January 1915 his parents were officially notified by the War Office that 
Francis McGuire had been missing since 11th November 1914, but it was some time before 
his death was officially confirmed.  
 
He was one of four sons on active service in 1915, two others were in the Cameron 
Highlanders while the youngest, Private James McGuire, who was home in Renton wounded 
when Francis was reported missing, was in the Machine Gun Section of the KOSBs.  
 
Private Francis McGuireôs body was never found and having no known grave he is 
commemorated on the Menin Gate Memorial at Ypres as well as the Renton War Memorial. 
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Exterior of Menin Gate Ypres 

 
Private James Smith, (Serial Number S/3518) 1st Battalion Gordon Highlanders, Killed 

in Action 13th November 1914, aged 31 (the CWGC date of Private James Smithôs death is 
18th November). Private Smith is a comparatively rare soldier in 1914 in that when he re-
enlisted on the outbreak of war he ended up in a different regiment from the one in which he 
had previously served. He had served a number of years in the Regular Army in the 
Cameron Highlanders and when he left the Camerons he remained a Reservist for five 
years. He was another ex-Regular who went to work in the Shipyards of the Clyde, in his 
case, Beardmoreôs Shipyard at Dalmuir. He was married to Mary MacDonald Smith and they 
lived at 363 Main Street Bonhill. 
 
By the outbreak of war in August 1914, his term as a Reservist had expired and he was not 
mobilised. However, he obviously felt it his duty to join in the fight and he voluntarily re-
enlisted. Although technically he was not a Reservist he was treated as one and went 
straight into a front line battalion. ñRe-joiners ñ, as they were sometimes referred to, usually 
went back into the regiment in which they had served years before, so perhaps Private 
Smith did first of all rejoin the Cameron Highlanders. However, the 1st Battalion of the 
Gordon Highlanders was destroyed during the battle of Le Cateau on 26th August 1914 and 
replacements were urgently required to re-form it. So itôs very possible that Private James 
Smith was transferred to 1st Gordon Highlanders. However he got there, he was serving in 
the 1 GH when he was killed.  
 
The 1 GH were back in the front line by mid September 1914 and itôs likely that James Smith 
was with them by this time. The Gordons rejoined the front line troops in time to join in the 
Race to the Sea before moving into the southern end of the Ypres Salient in time for the start 
of the 1st Battle of Ypres. James Smith was Killed in Action during that Battle. 
 
The first word of his death came back to the Vale, not from the War Office, but in a letter 
from Private Charles Miller, also serving in the Gordons, to his own wife at Main Street 
Alexandria. He wrote to her that James Smith had met his death at the front on 13th 
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November 1914 (not 18th as CWGC says) and this news reached the Vale at the beginning 
of December. James Smithôs wife had received a post card from him two days before he 
died. As you will see below, Charles Miller only survived James Smith by a month.  
 
Having no known grave James Smith is commemorated on the Ploegsteert Memorial, which 
is 8 miles south of the town of Ypres, as well as on the Alexandria Cenotaph.  
 
 
Private Robert Gray, (SN 3/8023) 3rd Battalion Argyll & Sutherland Highlanders, Died 
11th December, 1914, aged 41. Private Gray lived at Ferryfield House Alexandria, he was 
the son of ex-Inspector William Gray of the Dumbartonshire Police Force and was a well 
known Vale man. He volunteered for the Army in November 1914 and was accepted, 
although strictly speaking he was too old to do so at that time. He joined the 3rd Argylls, the 
Reserve Battalion of the Regiment, which trained replacements for the 1st or 2nd Battalion of 
A&SH who were in the field.  
 
On the outbreak of war 3 A&SH had been at Stirling but it had moved on mobilisation to 
Woolwich and was there until 1915. Robert Gray was doing his basic training with the 
battalion at Woolwich when he took ill and was hospitalised. He died in the Royal Herbert 
Hospital at Woolwich on Friday 11th December 1914 and is buried in Greenwich Cemetery. 
His parents received the news of his death on his sisterôs wedding day.  
 
 
Private Charles Miller, Serial Number S/3388, 1st Battalion Gordon Highlanders, Killed 
in Action 14th December 1914. Charles Miller had been born in Renton but by 1914 he was 
living with his wife in Main Street Alexandria. His parents Mr & Mrs Peter Miller lived in 
Victoria Street Alexandria. He worked as a joiner in Dennyôs Yard in Dumbarton. 
 
Private Miller was serving at the front although he was neither a Regular nor a Reservist, 
and this was very unusual for 1914. It was because of the desperate situation that the 
Gordon Highlanders found themselves in after the Battle of Le Cateau on 26th August 1914. 
Charles Miller had previous experience in the Volunteer movement so that when he 
answered Lord Kitchenerôs call on the outbreak of the war, he was despatched to the front 
with the Gordons. He would have gone back to the front-line with the re-formed 1 GH at the 
beginning of October 1914, just in time to be sent into the Ypres Salient and take part in the 
first Battle of Ypres.  
 
Although, no official intimation was received from the War Office that he was missing, word 
was sent home to Alexandria just before Christmas 1914 by one of his companions. This left 
his family and friends in a position they all dreaded ï fearing the worst but hoping for the 
best. It was not until 14 months later, i.e. the end of January 1916, that the War Office 
confirmed his death on 14th December 1914 to his wife, who by this time was living at 40 
Mitchell Street Alexandria. These delays in official confirmation of death were not uncommon 
and indeed weôll see longer ones in later years. However, there was not much consistency in 
how the War Office handled a soldier being missing during a battle; sometimes they 
immediately accepted that he was dead while other times they took a long time to accept it, 
perhaps waiting to see if he turned up as a prisoner or an unidentified wounded soldier, and 
itôs not easy now to see what led to these differences.  
 
None of his friends and family would have escaped the irony of the fact that just a month 
earlier Charles Miller had been able to immediately send back to James Smithôs wife the 
news that James Smith had been killed, saving her the months of anguish that Charles 
Millerôs family had to endure.  
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Charles Millerôs body was never identified and having no known grave, Charles Miller, like 
his comrade-in-arms James Smith, is commemorated on the Menin Gate Memorial at Ypres 
as well as on the Alexandria Cenotaph.  
 
 
Sergeant Daniel Jardine, Serial Number 3229, 2nd Battalion Scots Guards. Killed in 
Action 18th December 1914, aged 32. Sergeant Daniel Jardine was born and bred in 
Alexandria and his parents, Mr & Mrs George Jardine lived at Alexander Street Alexandria. 
Sergeant Jardine had been a Regular, having served the colours for 12 years and had taken 
part in the Boer War, for which he had been awarded 2 medals. He was therefore still a 
Reservist when war broke out. Since leaving the Regular Army he had been a policeman 
with the City of Glasgow Police Force and had left that to go and work at the Singerôs 
Factory in Clydebank. He lived at Granville Street, Radnor Park, Clydebank.  
 

 
 

Singerôs Works Clydebank 

 
It was from his job at Singerôs that Daniel Jardine was recalled to his battalion on the 
outbreak of war. He went to one of the more exotic Army depots ï the Tower of London ï 
from which his battalion soon moved to a more appropriate battle training base at Lyndhurst 
in the New Forest in Hampshire. The 2nd SG did not join the first BEF landings in August 
1914 and therefore avoided the initial battles at Mons and the retreat back to the Marne. 
Instead it was part of the force which was landed at Zeebrugge on 7th October 1914 and 
hence to help establish the line in front of the town of Ypres.  
 
Sergeant Jardine was soon in the thick of fighting the 1st Battle of Ypres, in the course of 
which 2 SG took enormous losses. The Battle is generally regarded as having petered out 
about 21st November, so Dan Jardine could be said to have survived it. However, the 
Germans kept up sporadic pressure at different points along the line and in one of these Dan 
Jardineôs company was almost completely wiped out, only two men reporting themselves 
alive after the fighting. His family first heard that he was missing in the second week of 
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January 1915, and this put them into horrible quandary ï was Dan dead or a POW or 
wounded and not yet identified?  
 
Although he was eventually confirmed officially as having been Killed in Action, his body was 
never identified and having no known grave he is commemorated on the Ploegsteert 
Memorial 8 miles south of Ypres as well as on the Alexandria Cenotaph.  
 
Second-Lieutenant Alexander Crum-Ewing, 3rd Battalion Seaforth Highlanders, 
attached 1st Battalion Cameron Highlanders, Killed in Action 22nd December 1914, aged 
18. Lieutenant Crum-Ewing was the eldest son of Mr and Mrs Humphry Crum Ewing of 
Strathleven House and Estate although by the outbreak of WW1 they spent most of their 
time at their home in the New Forest - Ashurst Lodge, Lyndhurst, Hampshire ï or at their 
estates in Jamaica. He was born in March 1896 and had been educated at Eton - in 1914 
virtually all the officers in the British Army had been public-school educated. Alexander 
Crum-Ewing received his commission on September 14th 1914 and although he was 
gazetted into the 3rd Battalion of the Seaforth Highlanders, which was a Reserve battalion, 
he was promptly attached to the 1st Battalion Cameron Highlanders which was already in full 
retreat from Mons to the Marne.  
 

 
 

Strathleven House 
 
He would have been a replacement officer for someone who was already a casualty, and by 
this time the BEF had already taken considerable casualties of all ranks. In fact, the fighting 
officers of all ranks were proportionately just as likely to be killed as any other rank, while the 
junior officers (1st ï 2nd Lieutenant) were even more likely to be killed than any other rank 
during WW1. The greatest threat to the future of the survival of the British aristocracy in all of 
its history was not the English Civil War, Death Duties or Bolshevik Revolution. It was the 
losses of their sons in WW1, as the officer class in WW1 led their men ñover the topò, first 
out of the trenches and first to be killed by German machine guns and snipers. 
 
Alexander Crum Ewing was obviously a brave young man and during his short time in the 
trenches he was Mentioned in Despatches. In December 1914 the French were in trouble 


